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Vision

Our Mission

To become a beverage industry leader 
in Jamaica, the Caribbean and Diaspora 
Markets.

We are committed to manufacture 
and distribute beverages of the 
highest quality to meet the needs of 
our customers in all the markets we 
serve, to optimise the returns to our 
shareholders, and to improve the quality 
of life of employees and the well-being 

of the communities we serve in Jamaica 
and elsewhere.
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Notice of Annual
General Meeting

NOTICE is hereby given that the Fifty-Eighth Annual General Meeting of Salada Foods Jamaica 
Limited will be held in person for the following purposes on Monday, April 3, 2023 at 2:00 
p.m. at the Legacy Suite, Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5.

ORDINARY BUSINESS 
To receive the Audited Accounts for the year ended 30th September 2022 and the 
Report of the Auditors and Directors therein

To consider and if thought fi t to pass the following ordinary resolution:

“THAT the audited accounts for the year ended 30th of September, 2022 and the report 
of the Directors and Auditors therein BE AND ARE HEREBY received and adopted.”

To ratify and declare dividends paid on December 20, 2021 and June 22, 2022 as fi nal 
for the year ended 30th September 2022

To consider and if thought fi t pass the following ordinary resolution:

“THAT as recommended by the Directors, the interim dividends of $0.055 per stock 
unit paid on December 20, 2021 and $0.055 per stock unit paid on June 22, 2022 BE 
AND ARE HEREBY ratifi ed and declared as fi nal and no further dividend be paid with 
respect to the year ended 30th September 2022.”

Retirement and re-election of Directors 

Article 72 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation provides that at every Annual 
General meeting one-third of the Directors are subject to retirement for the time 
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest 
to one third, shall retire from offi ce. The Directors retiring under this Article are Mrs. 
Kathryn Lewis-Green and Mr. Patrick Williams who all being eligible, offer themselves 
up for re-election.

To consider and if thought fi t pass the following resolution:

3 (a) “THAT the Directors retiring by rotation and offering themselves for re-
election be re-elected en bloc.”

3 (b) “THAT Directors Kathryn Lewis-Green and Patrick Williams be and are hereby 
re-elected as Directors of the Company.”
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Directors’ Remuneration 

To consider and if thought fi t pass the following resolution:

“THAT the total combined remuneration of all Directors shall be determined by the 
Board.”

Appointment of Auditors 

To consider and if thought fi t pass the following resolution:

“THAT KPMG having signifi ed their willingness to continue in offi ce as Auditors of 
the Company shall be the Company’s Auditors until the conclusion of the Next 
Annual General Meeting, at a remuneration to be agreed by the Directors.” 

NOTES 

A member eligible to attend and vote at a General Meeting is entitled to appoint 
another person as his/her proxy to attend and vote instead of him/her. A proxy, so 
appointed, need not be a member of the Company.

All members are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.

Proxy forms can be found on the Company’s website at www.saladafoodsja.com and 
must be downloaded, printed, completed and deposited with the Secretary, at the 
Registered Offi ce of the Company not less than forty-eight hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting.  The Form of proxy must include stamp duty of 
$100 which may be paid by adhesive stamps which are to be cancelled by the person 
signing the proxy.

The Company’s Annual Report for the year ended September 30, 2022, which includes 
the Financial Statements, Auditor’s Report and Director’s Report therein, may be found 
at the Company’s website at www.saladafoodsja.com and be downloaded therefrom 
or alternatively on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at www.jamstockex.com.

Dated the 16th day of February 2023  

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD 

Michelle N. Smith 
COMPANY SECRETARY 
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Registered Offi ces
20 Bell Road
Kingston 11, Jamaica

Mailing Address
P.O. Box 71
Kingston 11, Jamaica

Telephone:
(876) 923-5821-2
(876) 923-7114-6
(876) 923-6476

Email:
info@saladafoodsja.com

Website:
www.saladafoodsja.com

Auditors:
KPMG
6 Duke Street
Kingston, Jamaica

Bankers:
National Commercial Bank
Corporate Banking Division
32 Trafalgar Road
Kingston 10

Social Media:
     saladafoodsjamaica

Corporate
Data
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Shareholders’
Report

Notes:
*Eric Stultz and Patrick Williams/Patricia Williams/Bella Williams own shares held
through Ideal Portfolio Services Company Limited.

10 Largest Shareholders

Shareholdings of Directors & Connected Parties

Senior Management Holdings



Chairman’s 
Message
Chairman’s Chairman’s 
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Salada is pleased to report a successful fiscal 
year 2022; a year in which we achieved a record 
$1.34 billion in revenues, which is a 12.3% 
increase above prior year. Operating Profit 
grew by 23.0% from $182.13 million to $223.96 
million and Net Profit grew by 12.0% to close 
at $175.42 million.

Improved distribution in trade channels as 
well as the successful introduction of our 

Flavoured Coffee line (Coconut Cappuccino, 
Caramel and Cinnameg) both contributed 

to 13.9% growth in domestic sales.  
Indeed, our fl avoured coffees have 
been well-received in the local market.                                                                                                                
Export sales grew by 6.9% year over 
year which is acceptable given the 
global economic downturn and 
infl ation worries, especially in the 
USA, our primary export market.

We want to thank the men and women in our workforce for their 
dedication and commitment to improving operational effi ciency. In 
our pledge to team member enhancement, the Company launched 
a training programme that upgraded the skills of over 33 operators 
to key competency standards based on vocational standards in 
Agro-Food Processing Operations. 

Supply chain issues persist, which span from infl ationary price 
increases on materials to the inconsistency in supply of critical raw 

materials, particularly Jamaican coffee, which has been experiencing 
record lows in production. It is becoming increasingly more diffi cult 

and costly to source suffi cient quantities of local coffee beans to meet 
Salada’s annual demand. This, in turn, negatively impacts our ability to 

satisfy the  minimum local coffee content requirement for coffee blends 
manufactured in Jamaica, as stipulated by the 2018 Jamaica Agricultural 

Commodities Regulatory Act. Additionally, the cess on imported coffee 
beans continues to drive up Salada’s manufacturing costs. The Minister 
of Agriculture, the Hon. Pearnel Charles Jr, speaking at the launch of the 
Blue Mountain Coffee Day on January 9, 2023, stated inter alia, that JACRA 
is developing a coffee industry business model. As the only CARICOM based 
manufacturer of instant coffee and a leading purchaser of Jamaican coffee, 
we offer our support and engagement in the determination of this model.



As a proud Jamaican entity, Salada strives to be a leader, not only in the manufacturing 
industry but also in our community through our various community-building outreach 
programmes. Notably, in 2022, the Company partnered with the Recycling Partners 
of Jamaica (RPJ) to collect PET and HDPE plastic bottles from staff and members of 
the surrounding community; partnered with the local police to provide support for 
operation; and continued our long-standing commitment to the Jebb Memorial Basic 
School.

During the reporting period, the Company confi rmed Mrs. Tamii Brown as General 
Manager and Mr. Zayous Hamilton as Financial Controller.

I wish to thank our entire team for their laser-focus on improving performance through 
operational effi ciency, innovation and alignment with consumer needs.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors for their unwavering 
support during the year. I thank our customers, distributors and shareholders for your 
loyalty; it is for you that we cultivate a heart of innovation.

PATRICK WILLIAMS
Chairman

12
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** Stock split of 10 shares for each share held in 2021, previous years adjusted for comparative purposes.  
*** EPS adjusted in 2021, previous years adjusted for comparative purposes.   
**** Share price revalued as a result of stock split in 2021   

Five Year Financial Review

Important Ratios
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For year ending September 2022

The Directors take pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended September 30, 2022.

The fi nancial results for the year end are shown in the table below:

Details of the results for the year were approved by the Board on December 16, 2022. A 
comparison with the previous year is set out in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on 
page (73).   

Dividends

In the 1st Quarter of the fi scal year the Directors declared and paid a dividend of $0.055 per 
stock unit on December 20, 2021 and in the 3rd Quarter of the fi scal year declared and paid a 
dividend of $0.055 per stock unit on June 22, 2022.

The Directors recommend that the interim dividend paid on December 20, 2021 and June 22, 
2022 be declared as fi nal for the year ended 30th September 2022.

There were no changes to the composition of the Board and Committees during the year 
under review. The composition of the Board up to and as at September 30, 2022 is as follows:

Mr. Patrick Williams (Chairman)
Mrs. Kathryn Lewis-Green
Mr. Eric Stultz
Mr. Michael Bernard   
Miss Michelle N. Smith is the Company’s Corporate Secretary. 

Directors’ Report
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The composition of the Committees and their respective Chairman up to and as at September 
30, 2022 are below: 

Retirement and Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to article 72 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation one-third of the Directors 
subject to retirement shall retire and may be re-elected to offi ce at every Annual General 
Meeting.  The Directors retiring under this article are Mr. Patrick Williams and Mrs. Lewis-
Green, who being eligible offer themselves for re-election as Directors.    

Thanks to Management and Staff

The Board is thankful to the management and staff of Salada for their perseverance during 
what was a continuously challenging year. The Board particularly would like to recognize 
management’s leadership in keeping Salada’s business still growing in the year.  The Board is 
committed to continuing to offer support and direction to the management of Salada.

Thanks to our Stakeholders

The Board thanks and appreciates all of Salada’s shareholders, partners and other 
stakeholders who supported the Company in the year and look forward to their continued 
support.

Dated the 17th day of February 2023
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Michelle N. Smith 
COMPANY SECRETARY 







Mr. Patrick Williams is Chairman of the Board of Salada 
Foods since March 2015.   Mr. Williams is also the Chairman 
of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member 
of the Audit and the Procurement Committees.

In addition to his role at Salada Foods, Mr. Williams is 
a senior executive of the ICWI Group Limited, a leading 
general insurer in the English-speaking Caribbean. 
He also serves on several boards, which include Ideal 
Portfolio Services, Ideal Finance Corporation, Hardware 
& Lumber and the University Hospital of the West Indies 
Private Wing Limited (Tony Thwaites Wing).

Mr. Williams is a graduate of the Bernard M. Baruch College of the 
City University of New York with a Master of Business Administration 
in Finance and holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Anthropology and 
Zoology from the University of Toronto.

A Director of Salada Foods for over twenty years, Mr. 
Michael Bernard is also the Executive Chairman of 
Spike Industries Limited, Chairman of Catherine’s Peak 
Bottling Company Limited, Pioneer Manufacturing 
and Distribution Company Limited and One on One 
Educational Services Limited as well as his alma mater, 
Jamaica College.

He is a Director of Hardware & Lumber Limited, Grace 
Kennedy General Insurance Company Limited and Sterling 
Investments Limited. He is a former General Manager of 
Jamaica Biscuit Company and former Managing Director of 
both the Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited, the Agricultural 
Products of Jamaica Limited and Carreras Limited. 

A member of Salada’s Audit Committee, Mr. Bernard holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business 
Administration and Bachelor of Science degree in Forest Management from Washington State University 
and a Master of Business Administration from Harvard University.   

PATRICK WILLIAMS
Chairman

MICHAEL BERNARD
Director 

Board of Directors
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Salada’s Chair of the Audit Committee and member of the 
Corporate Governance Committee, Mrs. Kathryn Lewis-
Green has served as a Director of Salada Foods since 
February 2012.  

Mrs. Lewis-Green is a founding partner of Lewis, Smith, 
Williams & Company, Attorneys-at-Law and Trademark 
Agents.  Mrs. Lewis-Green was successfully admitted to 
the Jamaican bar in 2011 and holds a Bachelor of Arts 
degree in Political Science from McMaster University, a 
Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Liverpool, 
a Legal Education Certifi cate from the Norman Manley Law 
School and a Master of Business Administration from the 
Mona School of Business, University of the West Indies.  Mrs. 
Lewis-Green is also a Director of the Companies Offi ce of Jamaica as 
well as the Trade Board Jamaica Limited.

Chairman of Salada’s Procurement Committee and 
member of the Corporate Governance Committee, Mr. 
Eric Stultz has served as a Director of Salada Foods 
since January 2008. Mr. Stultz is the General Manager 
of Baking Enterprises Limited and has held several 
management roles within the National Continental 
Corporation since 1980.

Mr. Stultz is a proud graduate of St. George’s College, 
offering vast knowledge and experience in productivity 
enhancement and operational effi ciency.

KATHRYN LEWIS-GREEN
Director 

ERIC STULTZ
Director



Ms. Michelle Smith holds the position of Company 
Secretary of Salada Foods. Admitted to the Jamaican bar 
in 2005, Miss Smith is the Managing Partner of Lewis, 
Smith, Williams & Company, Attorneys-at-Law and 
Trademark Agents.  She heads the fi rm’s Commercial 
Division and Dispute Resolution Department. 

Miss Smith is a graduate of the University of the West 
Indies with a Bachelor of Arts degree in History and a 
Bachelor of Laws degree.  She also holds a Legal Education 
Certifi cate from the Norman Manley Law School and a Master 
of Laws in International and Commercial Dispute Resolution 
Law from the University of Westminster.

MICHELLE SMITH
Company Secretary 

Board of Directors
Cont.
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For year ending September 2022

Corporate
Governance Report
CorporateCorporate
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At Salada, corporate governance is at the forefront of our operations as 
we endeavor to maintain high standards and principles.  Compliance with 
all legal and regulatory frameworks in the conduct of our business locally 
and overseas is important to us, as well as being a good corporate citizen 
and neighbour to surrounding communities. Striving to maintain good 
and professional relations with our business partners, staff and other 
stakeholders is also a part of us ensuring we fulfi l our corporate social 
responsibility.

Establishing long-term sustainable growth for shareholders has been one 
of the benefi ts of Salada maintaining corporate governance as paramount. 
As such, during the year under review, Salada continued to focus on striving 
to maintain and improve upon our culture of good corporate governance 
and will continue to do so in the future.  

Board Proceedings 
During the year under review, the Directors provided oversight, support 
and guidance to management in the execution of some strategies that 
were employed to overcome risks and challenges faced in the year, some 
of which were common to all in the socio-political economic climate, 
and others that are unique to Salada’s business operations. The Board’s 
main focus, with management’s help and efforts, during the year under 
review was to ensure that Salada met every challenge faced with strategy, 
confi dence and success.  

Board Composition 
In the year under review the Board comprised four (4) Directors, three 
(3) being independent Directors and one (1) a non-independent Director. 
Independent Directors have no substantial shareholdings in the Company, 
are not close relatives of a signifi cant shareholder and have no employment 
relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries. These independent 
Directors are Mr. Patrick Williams (Chairman), Mr. Michael Bernard and 
Mr. Eric Stultz. The sole non-independent Director is Mrs. Kathryn Lewis-
Green.  The Company’s Corporate Secretary is Miss Michelle N. Smith. 
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To view each Board member’s profi le please visit Salada’s website at www.saladafoodsja.com.
Our Directors’ skills and expertise used in their oversight of Salada’s business are depicted 
below. 

Expertise
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Board Meetings 

The Board meets once per month for eleven (11) months in any year for regular Board 
meetings.  All other Board meetings outside the regular scheduled Board meetings are special 
Board meetings. Three (3) Directors at a meeting of the Board is a quorum. In addition to the 
Directors, the General Manager, Financial Controller and Corporate Secretary attend Board 
meetings. In the year under review there were eleven (11) regular Board meetings and no 
special Board meetings. 

The record of attendance at Board meetings by Directors for the year in review are shown in 
the table below:

Board and Committees Evaluation

In keeping with Salada’s policy, every Board and Committee member must participate in the 
Company’s annual evaluation process.  The evaluation process assesses the performance of 
the Directors individually and the Board and Committees collectively in line with the Company’s 
mission, vision, and stated objectives. The Chairman reviews all evaluations by Board and 
Committee members with a view to taking any necessary actions arising therefrom. 

Directors’ Emoluments 

Directors’ total emoluments for the year under review was Eleven Million Six Hundred and 
Eighty Thousand Dollars ($11,680,000.00).  

Board Committees

The established Committees of the Board are the Audit Committee, the Corporate Governance 
Committee and the Procurement Committee. Two (2) members form a quorum at a meeting for 
each Committee. The Committee meetings are scheduled quarterly in a year or for such other 
agreed period in a year.  In addition to the members, the General Manager, Financial Controller 
and Corporate Secretary attend the Committee meetings.  The Company’s external auditor 
attends the last Audit Committee meeting for the year to present on their audit process. 
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The Audit Committee for the year under review consisted of three (3) members, namely Mrs. 
Kathryn Lewis-Green (Chairman), Mr. Michael Bernard and Mr. Patrick Williams. 

During the year the Committee: 

ensure that proper accounting standards are complied with in the preparation of the 
fi nancials

monitor and ensure that the integrity of the fi nancials are maintained

monitor and ensure that the internal controls and systems in place are suitable for 
containing and mitigating business risks 

review and approve unaudited quarterly fi nancials and audited fi nancials for release on 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange

continued to monitor the extent of the impact of the Government imposed cess on imported 
coffee green beans on the Company’s bottom line, cash fl ow and budget

continued to monitor the extent of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on sales and 
margins 

continued to monitor the extent of the JACRA regulation requirement for 30% local coffee 
input in the local manufacture of instant coffee on the profi tability of the Company’s 
business

reviewed and recommended to the Board the approval of quarterly unaudited fi nancials 
and releases to shareholders

reviewed and assessed the quarterly reports on material transactions 

reviewed and assessed quarterly report on reconciliation

reviewed the audited fi nancials for year ended September 30, 2022 prepared by the External 
Auditor, KPMG

assessed the external auditor, KPMG, effi ciency and fee structure with a view to 
recommending them to continue as auditor for the Company 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee oversees the monthly and quarterly unaudited fi nancial reporting by 
management and the annual auditing process of the Company’s fi nancials by the External 
Auditor.  The Committee’s role and functions include:
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making timely disclosure to the Company’s Stockholders/Stakeholders and other 
regulatory bodies

ensure a formal and transparent compensation/remuneration policy for Executives, 
Directors and Senior Management

mediating disputes and confl icts on the Board and with management within a timely 
fashion  

In the year under review the Committee met four (4) times. Each member’s attendance at 
meetings, and the attendance of a Director who is not a member but attended by invitation, 
are refl ected in the table below.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee oversees Salada’s compliance with the relevant legal 
and regulatory framework that governs its business and ensures that the Company’s corporate 
governance systems and practices are in keeping with best practices.  

Other functions of the Committee include:  

The main activities carried out by the Committees during this year were as follows:

considered and made internal appointments at the managerial level 

oversaw the Board, Committees and Directors’ Annual Performance Evaluation for year 
in review

review the Board and management performances and implement the recommendations 

keep the Board and management abreast of best practice for good corporate governance  



The Committee consists of two (2) members, namely Mr. Eric Stultz (Chairman) and Mr. Patrick 
Williams, who together form a quorum. 

In the year the Committee met three (3) times.  Each member’s attendance at the meetings, 
and the attendance of a Director who is not a member but attended by invitation, are refl ected 
in the table below.

To view Salada’s Corporate Governance Charter please visit our website at
www.saladafoodsja.com under tab “Investor Relations” and select tab “Corporate Governance”.

Procurement Committee

The Procurement Committee oversees management’s procurement of raw material and goods 
and machinery for the Company’s production.  The Committee ensures that all procurement 
by management is necessary, cost effective and benefi ts the Company’s operations. 

The considerations by the Committee during the year were as follows:

The Corporate Governance Committee for the year under review had three (3) members, 
namely Mr. Patrick Williams (Chairman), Mrs. Kathryn Lewis-Green and Mr. Eric Stultz.  The 
Committee met four (4) times in the year.  Each member’s attendance at meetings, and the 
attendance of a Director who is not a member but attended by invitation, are refl ected in 
the table below.

reviewed and approved request for the procurement of coffee beans and packaging 
equipment

reviewed and approved other periodic expenditure as required under the procurement 
policy

30
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TAMII BROWN 
General Manager 

STEPHEN LLOYD
Operations Manager 

KERRIAN JOHNSON
Commercial and Corporate

Affairs Manager

ZAYOUS HAMILTON 
Financial Controller

NADINE FRANCIS 
Quality Assurance Manager

CHRISTOPHER LEE 
Logistics Manager 

LAURENCE CHIN SHUE 
Plant and Special
Projects Engineer

Management
Team



Management
Discussion
& Analysis

ManagementManagement

32
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Established in 1958, Salada Foods Jamaica Limited manufactures instant coffees 
and teas for distribution in Jamaica and for export to several international 
markets. As the only soluble coffee processing plant in 
Jamaica and the English-speaking Caribbean, Salada 
produces instant teas and coffees for regional 
distributors, as well as under its fl agship brand 
Jamaica Mountain Peak. Certifi ed  with Safe Quality 
Food (SQF) Level 2 Certifi cation, the Company 
maintains a highly prescriptive quality assurance 
operation to ensure goods are manufactured in 
keeping with world-class standards. 

Total revenue for the fi nancial year ended September 
30, 2022 grew by 12% to close at $1.34 billion. This 
increase was the result of solid performance 
and growth across all distribution channels. 
Domestic sales increased by 13.9% buoyed by 
sustained consumer affi nity to our brands as well 
as improvements in the sales and distribution 
capabilities of our local partner, Lasco Distributors. 

In March 2022, the Company introduced the Flavoured 3-in-1 Coffee line, 
which includes Coconut Cappuccino, Caramel and Cinnameg (a unique 
blend of cinnamon and nutmeg). The product launch and consumer 
acceptance of these innovations further supported the organic sales 
growth in the domestic market. 

Export sales, which remain a 
cornerstone strategy for growth, 

grew by 6.9% relative to the 
same period last year. This growth 

was primarily attributable to the 
reopening of the Canadian market, 
as well as successful placement 
and positioning of the Ginger 
Turmeric instant teas in all main 
markets. 

and teas for distribution in Jamaica and for export to several international and teas for distribution in Jamaica and for export to several international 
markets. As the only soluble coffee processing plant in markets. As the only soluble coffee processing plant in 
Jamaica and the English-speaking Caribbean, Salada Jamaica and the English-speaking Caribbean, Salada 
produces instant teas and coffees for regional produces instant teas and coffees for regional 
distributors, as well as under its fl agship brand distributors, as well as under its fl agship brand 
Jamaica Mountain Peak. Certifi ed  with Safe Quality Jamaica Mountain Peak. Certifi ed  with Safe Quality 
Food (SQF) Level 2 Certifi cation, the Company Food (SQF) Level 2 Certifi cation, the Company 
maintains a highly prescriptive quality assurance maintains a highly prescriptive quality assurance 
operation to ensure goods are manufactured in operation to ensure goods are manufactured in 

Performance Summary

acceptance of these innovations further supported the organic sales acceptance of these innovations further supported the organic sales 
growth in the domestic market. growth in the domestic market. 

Export sales, which remain a Export sales, which remain a 
cornerstone strategy for growth, cornerstone strategy for growth, 

grew by 6.9% relative to the grew by 6.9% relative to the 
same period last year. This growth same period last year. This growth 

was primarily attributable to the was primarily attributable to the 
reopening of the Canadian market, reopening of the Canadian market, 
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Operating Profi t increased by 23% or $41.83 million, driven 
by efforts to improve operational effi ciency with strategies 
including the upskilling of our labour force, better waste 
management and other cost-containment measures. Total 
administrative, selling and other expenses had a marginal 
decline of 4.7%.

The Company delivered net profi ts of $175.42 million, an 
increase of 12% compared to the prior year. The Company 
closed with earnings per share at $0.17, a 13% increase over prior year (2021: $0.15).

Net cash grew by 287% driven by reductions in inventories and trade receivables 
as well as an increase in trade payables.

Total assets for the fi nancial year stood at $1.35 billion, 
which represents a 6.6% increase over the prior year. 
Current assets increased by $107 million propelled by 
investments, cash and trade receivables. Investments 
grew by 53% on the back of increases in the Company’s 
investment portfolio. 

Notably, inventories declined by $53.8 million or 10% 
below the prior year. This decline was primarily driven 
by shortages of critical raw materials, namely Jamaican 
green coffee beans, which continues to hit record production lows year-on-year. 
Salada Foods is a leading purchaser of Jamaican green coffee beans, which is 
used in coffee products enjoyed in both domestic and export markets. Expanding 
distribution of these products is threatened by the low and inconsistent availability 
of local supply, which is required to remain in compliance with the existing local 
legislation. The Company continues to engage with the local regulatory bodies and 
key industry stakeholders on strategies to revitalize, restructure and reposition 
the industry for viability and global competitiveness. 

Stockholders’ equity grew by 4.6% to close at $1.05 billion. 
Salada maintains a debt-free balance sheet and return 
on equity came in at 16.7% compared to 15.6% in the prior 
year. The Company continues to deliver shareholder 
value paying shareholders dividends totaling $114.3 
million for the year under review.

Cash Flow & Financial Position
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Our business outlook is conservatively optimistic, as we manage both expectations 
and challenges arising from untenable legislation, raw material shortages, ongoing 
geo-political confl icts and a high infl ation environment.

We anticipate that supply chain issues will improve and that good sense will prevail 
with respect to legislation. However, the risk to the viability of the Company due 
to existing legislation and undue delays in the approvals of coffee-related permit 
applications by the regulatory authorities cannot be overstated.

To our valued shareholders, we remain steadfast in our commitment to grow the 
business sustainably while adding value to our shareholders.

TAMII BROWN
General Manager

Outlook

TAMII BROWN



InnovationInnovationInnovation
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Our core strategy is to innovate products attuned to the evolving needs of our target 
consumers. This allows our portfolio of products to continuously improve and remain 
relevant in a dynamic marketplace. We believe that effective product innovation is 
driven from the market up. 

The Company launched its 
latest product innovations 
in March 2022. Our Jamaica 
Mountain Peak (JMP) product 
portfolio now boasts delectable 
fl avours, including the Coconut 
Cappuccino, Caramel and 
Cinnameg (a blend of cinnamon 
and nutmeg, which is a nod to 
our proud Jamaican heritage). 

These innovations were a 
direct result of our continued 
commitment to engage, listen 
and evolve with our consumers. 
Supported by current research 
on global beverage trends, we 
engaged consumers in a series 
of targeted focus groups to 
better understand their lifestyles 
and needs. The result was a 
welcomed explosion of coffee 
and fl avour - a true treat for
the senses.

Sensory evaluations 
and focus group 

testing were the order 
of the day prior to the 
public launch of the 
fl avoured coffees.



A sweet collaboration 
with popular pastry chef 

Nookie Cookie showcased 
the versatility of our new 

innovations.

A sweet collaboration 

38





Export
Highlights
ExportExport
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Aligned to Salada’s Vision 2025, 
expanding our global footprint is a 
key strategic pillar for growth of the 
Company. The strategic placement of 
our fl agship brand as well as contracted 
brands across trade channels in 
export markets provides attractive 
opportunities for the sustainable 
expansion of the Company’s portfolio.

2022 featured the global 
distribution of the recent 

product innovation:
GINGER TURMERIC 

Footprint



Salada Foods continues to improve its visibility through active consumer engagement 
in export markets. Below are highlights of promotions held in North America, featuring 
our Ginger Turmeric Teas  and Instant Coffees.

SALADA IN THE DIASPORA

Cheryl Wynter & Oliver Mair (Consul General) middle, 
share a delightful cup of Jamaica Mountain Peak Coffee 
with patrons of the consulate.

Patrons from both 
consulates, New York and 

Miami, enjoy Jamaica 
Mountain Peak coffees 

and teas.

Tamii Brown, General 
Manager & Kerrian Johnson, 
Commercial & Corporate 
Affairs Manager share smiles 
with Cheryl Wynter, Miami 
Consulate where Salada’s 
products are enjoyed at the 
exclusive Jamaica Mountain 
Peak coffee station.
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Jamaica Mountain Peak coffees 
and teas were front and centre at 
samplings in New York stores, where 
customers enjoyed our unique fl avour 
combinations with the option to buy. 
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Marketing Highlights
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The fi scal year 2022 featured several training interventions 
designed to enhance team engagement and productivity at 
Salada. A record total of 125 team members participated in 
training initiatives during the reporting period.

In July 2022, Salada launched its Operator Training, a comprehensive theory and practical 
programme aligned to the vocational standards for Agro-Food Processing Operations. All 
operators at Salada were trained and assessed in critical competencies, which will be later 
supported by refresher on-the-job training.

As the fi rst initiative of its kind undertaken by the coffee exporter, the training focused on 
three key areas: quality, production and engineering. 

Below are highlights of the programmes embarked upon throughout the year. 

Process Operator Training

Tamii Brown,
Salada Foods’ General 

Manager presents to staff 
as part of a company-
wide Operator Training 
programme held at the 
Company’s Bell Road 

location on July 5.

Nadine Francis, Salada Foods’ 
Quality Assurance Manager explains 
the importance of quality and the 
rationale for quality inspections as
it relates to machine operation.
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Nigel Hudson (below) Salada Foods’ 
Engineering Services Supervisor 
demonstrates a Motor Start Circuit 
with Operators Paul Pandohie and 
Gladstone Wilson.

Ornel Jackson (left) a Process Operator 
at Salada Foods, poses a question 
during the Operator Training session.

Ajani Miller Process 
Operator at Salada Foods, 

expresses gratitude for 
the Salada Foods Operator 

Training initiative.

The Salada Foods’ Operator Training
programme team: L-R: Plant & Special Projects 
Engineer-Laurence Chin Shue, Operations 
Manager-Stephen Lloyd, Administrative Assistant 
-Nikeisha Cousins, Quality Assurance Manager- 
Nadine Francis, Engineering Services Supervisor 
-Nigel Hudson, General Manager -Tamii Brown.
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Team members 
participating in 
the Cyber Security 
training. 

In our constantly evolving digital age, Cyber Security 
awareness is a critical competence to safeguard 
personal and professional assets. Salada hosted 
an internal Sip & Learn session to educate team 
members on Cyber Security and provided valuable 
insights on how to avoid identity theft and other 
common threats in the digital space. 

(Left) Andrew Grant collecting his 
prize from Commercial Manager, 
Kerrian Johnson.

(Above) Kevin Allen collecting 
his prize from General 
Manager, Tamii Brown. 

Cyber Security Awareness Training
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In August 2022, Salada launched the inaugural Safe & Sound 
Week to much fanfare and excitement. Under the theme, 
“Safe Workplaces are Sound Workplaces”, Safe & Sound 
Week featured a series of mini workshops during the lunch 
hour. The objective was to raise awareness in the workplace 
while mitigating against potential hazards that may lead to 
illness, injury or even death. The content was transferred 
to team members in a fun and engaging manner. Activities 
during the week included safety gear displays, departmental 
skits and guest presentations from the Jamaica Fire Brigade.

Safe & Sound Week

Team members 
fully engaged 
in fi re safety 
workshop. 

(Above) The Jamaica Fire 
Brigade’s representative, 

Sophia Morgan, gave a rousing 
presentation on fi re safety in 

the workplace.

(Above)
Sheldon Gordon

presented Sophia Morgan 
with a Salada gift basket in 
appreciation of the Jamaica 

Fire Brigade’s continued 
collaboration with

Salada Foods.
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Salada hosted 
a Breast Cancer 
Awareness Sip & 
Learn session in 
collaboration with 
the Jamaica Reach 
to Recovery and 
the Jamaica Cancer 
Society.  Team 
members benefi ted 
from a riveting guest 
speaker presentation 
from the Jamaica 
Reach to Recovery on 
breast cancer and its 
risk factors and tips 
on self-examination 
and detection.

Breast Cancer Sip & Learn

Faith Palmer (left) 
is presented with 
a gift from Salada 

Sales Representative, 
Karlene Shaw-Spence.
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Team Salada is an ardent supporter of health and wellness initiatives, such as local 5k 
runs. Below are a few highlights of runs supported during the fi scal year.

Team Activities

Teams that play together, 
stay together

(From left) Salada Foods’ General Manager, 
Tamii Brown, Albert Francis, Diane Ellis and 
Commercial & Corporate Affairs Manager, 
Kerrian Johnson and Everyone’s a Winner 
participant celebrate their run at the return 
of the Everyone’s a Winner 5k & 3k run in 
Kingston on June 19.

Team Salada refuels with their coffee brand, 
Jamaica Mountain Peak coffee as the team 
represented in their numbers for the return 
staging of the Everyone’s a Winner run held 
on Father’s Day.
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Pink Run 2022

Team Salada donned the traditional tall socks and tutus look for the 20th staging of the ICWI Pink 
Run held in Kingston on October 30, 2022 at the Hope Botanical Gardens. The manufacturing 
company also provided a full-service hot beverage station that offered runners cups of 
coffees and teas courtesy of its fl agship brand Jamaica Mountain Peak.
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Salada continues to embody its mantra, Rise Up and Support.
Below are a few highlights showcasing our support for worthy 
causes during the fi scal year.

The Company embarked on several initiatives geared towards reducing plastic waste and 
waste from our manufacturing operations. In June 2022, the Company partnered with 
Recycling Partners of Jamaica to install a recycling cage on the compound and placed 
recycling bins at strategic locations throughout the plant.

Recycling Initiative

Nadine Francis, Quality Assurance Manager with a member of the Jamaica 
Recycling Partners after successful placement of the cage.
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In support of National Reading Day, Salada surprised the Spanish Town Primary 
students with a special treat.

National Reading Day

Otis Whyte, Salada 
Foods delighted the 

young listeners with an 
energetic storytelling 

session from a 
Jamaican novel.

Noting the purported health benefi ts of our 
Ginger and Ginger Turmeric instant teas, Salada 
made donations to the Ministry of Health.

Salada donated cash and Ginger Turmeric 
teas to the Jamaica Reach to Recovery in 
support of breast cancer awareness.

Health and Wellness
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Salada continues to support Jebb Memorial Basic School on their laudable path to 
achieving Early Childhood Commission Certifi cation, with the provision of educator 
and ancillary salaries, breakfast programme, internet and pest control services. 

As esteemed Jamaicans were recognized for their invaluable contribution to nation-
building, Salada Foods provided tea and coffee refreshments as the offi cial hot 
beverage sponsor of the National Honour Awards. 

JEBB Memorial Basic School

National Honour Awards
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KPMG, a Jamaican Industrial and Provident Society and a member firm of R. Tarun Handa Nigel R. Chambers Rochelle N. Stephenson
the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with Cynthia L. Lawrence Nyssa A. Johnson Sandra A. Edwards
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by Rajan Trehan W. Gihan C. de Mel Karen Ragoobirsingh
by guarantee.  All right reserved. Norman O. Rainford Wilbert A. Spence

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Salada Foods Jamaica Limited (“the 
company”) comprising the consolidated financial statements of the company 
and its subsidiaries (“the group”) and the separate financial statements of the 
company, set out on pages 9 to 47 which comprise the group’s and company’s 
statements of financial position as at September 30, 2022, the group’s and 
company’s statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the group and the company as at September 30, 
2022, and of the group’s and company’s financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and the Jamaican Companies Act.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants including International Independence Standards 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KPMG
P.O. Box 436
6 Duke Street
Kingston
Jamaica, W.I.
+1 (876) 922 6640
firmmail@kpmg.com.jm
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of 
most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. 

1. Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables

Key Audit Matter
How the matter was addressed in 
our audit

The group is required to 
recognise expected credit 
losses (ECL) on trade 
receivables, the determination 
of which is highly subjective 
and requires management to 
make significant judgement 
and estimates including 
determination of the 
appropriate variables and 
assumptions used and the 
application of forward-looking 
information.

As significant management 
judgement is used in 
determining the appropriate 
variables and assumptions 
used in the ECL calculations 
that increase the risk of 
material misstatement.

Our audit procedures in response to 
this matter included: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the 
model used by management for the 
calculation of expected credit losses 
on trade receivables.

• Testing the completeness and 
accuracy of the data used in the ECL 
models to the underlying accounting 
records on a sample basis.

• Involving our financial risk modelling 
specialist, to review the ECL model, 
assess the appropriateness of the 
group’s impairment methodology, 
managements assumptions and 
compliance with the requirements 
of IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.

• Involving or financial risk modelling 
specialist to evaluate the 
appropriateness of the economic 
parameters including the use of 
forward looking information.

• Testing the accuracy of the ECL 
calculation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit MattersKey Audit MattersKey Audit Matter (Continued)

1. Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables (continued)

Key Audit Matter (continued) How the matter was addressed in 
our audit (continued)

Our audit procedures in response to 
this matter included (continued): 

• Testing the recording and ageing 
of trade receivables.

• Assessing the adequacy of the 
disclosures of the key 
assumptions and judgements for 
compliance with IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments.

2. Inventory costing 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in 
our audit

The group’s inventory includes 
finished goods and work-in-
progress, which consist of raw 
and packaging materials, direct 
labour, other direct costs and a 
proportion of related production 
overheads.  The determination of 
other direct costs and proportion 
of related production overheads 
allocated to finished goods and 
work-in-progress requires 
significant judgements.

Due to the materiality of inventory 
and the judgement involved in 
allocating overheads, we 
considered this to be a key audit
matter.

In this area, our audit procedures 
included:

• Testing controls over management 
review and recording of inventory 
costing.

• Testing a sample of inventory 
items to assess whether all 
elements of costs have been 
accurately input into the costing 
calculations including testing the 
basis and calculation of labour and 
overheads absorbed; and agreeing 
the cost of raw materials and 
packaging inventories to supporting 
records e.g. suppliers invoices.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit MattersKey Audit MattersKey Audit Matter (Continued)

3. Inventory valuation 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in 
our audit 

The group hold inventory of green 
beans purchased under a project 
in 2019. There is a risk that if not 
properly stored and a market is 
not available for sale/usage, then 
the product may be impaired.

In this area, our audit procedures 
included:

• Obtained an understanding of 
management’s inventory 
provisioning policy.

• Attended and observed annual 
inventory count at year end for the 
identification of obsolete and 
damaged items. Also, selected a 
sample of items for testing and 
agreeing count quantities to 
supporting records and assessed 
the conditions under which 
inventory including processed 
green beans are stored.

• Review management impairment 
assessment of inventories by 
comparing the recent sale price to 
carrying cost and assessed 
management’s assumptions with 
respect to the type and age of 
inventory items based on both 
historical and current sales records 
to estimate utilisation of green 
beans in current production and 
proposed future production.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matter (Continued)

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the 
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  The annual report is 
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican Companies Act,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company’s 
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is included in the Appendix to this auditors’ report. This
description, which is located at pages 7 to 8, forms part of our auditors’
report.

Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as 
appears from our examination of those records, and the financial statements, 
which are in agreement therewith, give the information required by the Jamaican 
Companies Act in the manner required.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ 
report is Wilbert Spence.

Kingston, Jamaica

December 16, 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business activities within the group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of 
SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position
September 30, 2022  
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Group   Company  
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 4 equipment 4 equipment 112,054 121,670 108,223 117,839
Intangible asset 5 Intangible asset 5 Intangible asset 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300
Investment in subsidiary companies 6(a)        -             -      881  103,976

 Investments 7 82,804 98,128 82,804 98,128
Deferred tax asset 8 Deferred tax asset 8 Deferred tax asset      17,576      16,081      17,576      15,843

     213,734    237,179    210,784    337,086

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9 166,876 116,448 166,876 104,552
Investments 7 242,585 158,801 242,585 158,801
Trade and other receivables, net 10 2, net 10 2, net 54,740 227,488 254,585 132,077
Due from subsidiary 6(b)        -             -             -           9,904
Inventories, net 11 , net 11 , net    475,021    528,867    475,021    522,891

  1,139,222 1,031,604 1,139,067    928,225

TOTAL ASSETS   1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 12 73,216 73,216 73,216 73,216
Capital reserves 13 16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543
Retained earnings    960,862   915,041    967,489    868,177

  1,050,353 1,004,532 1,047,248    947,936
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 272,043 246,806 272,043 230,806
Due to subsidiary 6(c)       -             -             -      74,925
Taxation payable        30,560      17,445      30,560      11,644

       302,603    264,251    302,603    317,375

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
   AND LIABILITIES  1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

The financial statements on pages 9 to 47 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on December
16, 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

Chairman __________________________ Director Chairman __________________________ Director Chairman
Patrick Williams Kathryn Lewis-Green
__________________________ Chairman
Patrick Williams
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position
September 30, 2022  
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group   Company  
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 4 112,054 121,670 108,223 117,839
Intangible asset 5 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300
Investment in subsidiary companies 6(a)        -             -      881  103,976

 Investments 7 82,804 98,128 82,804 98,128
Deferred tax asset 8      17,576      16,081      17,576      15,843

     213,734    237,179    210,784    337,086

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9 166,876 116,448 166,876 104,552
Investments 7 242,585 158,801 242,585 158,801
Trade and other receivables, net 10 254,740 227,488 254,585 132,077
Due from subsidiary 6(b)        -             -             -           9,904
Inventories, net 11    475,021    528,867    475,021    522,891

  1,139,222 1,031,604 1,139,067    928,225

TOTAL ASSETS   1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 12 73,216 73,216 73,216 73,216
Capital reserves 13 16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543
Retained earnings    960,862   915,041    967,489    868,177

  1,050,353 1,004,532 1,047,248    947,936
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 272,043 246,806 272,043 230,806
Due to subsidiary 6(c)       -             -             -      74,925
Taxation payable        30,560      17,445      30,560      11,644

       302,603    264,251    302,603    317,375

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
   AND LIABILITIES  1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

The financial statements on pages 9 to 47 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on December
16, 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

__________________________ Chairman __________________________ Director 
Patrick Williams Kathryn Lewis-Green
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Group Company
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue 15 1,336,438 1,189,740    1,336,438 1,068,346
Cost of sales 16(a) (   924,435) (   828,534) (   924,435) (   815,921)

Gross profit    412,003    361,206    412,003    252,425
Other income      746        1,189      746        1,482

Selling and promotion expenses 16(b) (     51,864) (     52,434) (     51,864) (            40)
Administrative expenses 16(c) (   133,005) (   125,718) (   133,005) (   120,421)
Impairment losses on related party balances          -              -              -       (       3,512)
Impairment losses on trade receivables, net (      3,921) (          814) (      3,921) (       1,239)
Other expenses       -      (       1,300)       -      (       1,300)

Operating profit    223,959    182,129    223,959    127,395

Finance income 17 7,981 15,708 7,981 15,478
Finance costs 17 (       1,229) (          842) (       1,229) (          808)

Net finance income 17        6,752      14,866        6,752      14,670

Profit before taxation 230,711 196,995 230,711 142,065

Taxation 18 (     55,295) (     40,169) (     55,295) (     26,149)

Profit for the year    175,416    156,826    175,416    115,916

Other comprehensive loss:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit
  or loss:

Equity investments at FVOCI - net change 
   in fair value (     15,323) (      1,379) (    15,323) (       1,379)

Total comprehensive income for the year    160,093   155,447    160,093    114,537

Earnings per share:
Earnings per ordinary stock unit 20         0.17         0.15         0.17         0.15
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position
September 30, 2022  
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group   Company  
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 4 112,054 121,670 108,223 117,839
Intangible asset 5 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300
Investment in subsidiary companies 6(a)        -             -      881  103,976

 Investments 7 82,804 98,128 82,804 98,128
Deferred tax asset 8      17,576      16,081      17,576      15,843

     213,734    237,179    210,784    337,086

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9 166,876 116,448 166,876 104,552
Investments 7 242,585 158,801 242,585 158,801
Trade and other receivables, net 10 254,740 227,488 254,585 132,077
Due from subsidiary 6(b)        -             -             -           9,904
Inventories, net 11    475,021    528,867    475,021    522,891

  1,139,222 1,031,604 1,139,067    928,225

TOTAL ASSETS   1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 12 73,216 73,216 73,216 73,216
Capital reserves 13 16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543
Retained earnings    960,862   915,041    967,489    868,177

  1,050,353 1,004,532 1,047,248    947,936
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 272,043 246,806 272,043 230,806
Due to subsidiary 6(c)       -             -             -      74,925
Taxation payable        30,560      17,445      30,560      11,644

       302,603    264,251    302,603    317,375

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
   AND LIABILITIES  1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

The financial statements on pages 9 to 47 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on December
16, 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

__________________________ Chairman __________________________ Director 
Patrick Williams Kathryn Lewis-Green
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Group Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Group
Share Capital
capital reserves Retained

(note 12) (note 13) earnings Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balances at September 30, 2020 73,216 16,275    867,633    957,124

Profit for the year      -          -     156,826 156,826
Other comprehensive loss for the year      -          -     (       1,379) (     1,379)

Total comprehensive income      -          -        155,447    155,447

Transactions with owners of the company:
Dividends (note 12)      -          -     (   108,039) ( 108,039)

Balances at September 30, 2021 73,216 16,275    915,041 1,004,532

Profit for the year      -          -     175,416 175,416
Other comprehensive loss for the year      -          -     (   15,323) (   15,323)

Total comprehensive income      -          -        160,093    160,093

Transactions with owners of the company:
Dividends (note 12)      -          -     (   114,272) (   114,272)

Balances at September 30, 2022 73,216 16,275   960,862 1,050,353

Retained in the financial statements of:
The company 73,216 6,543 967,489 1,047,248
The subsidiaries      -       9,732 (    6,627)       3,105

Balances at September 30, 2022 73,216 16,275 960,862 1,050,353

Retained in the financial statements of:
The company 73,216 6,543 868,177 947,936
The subsidiaries      -       9,732   46,864      56,596

Balances at September 30, 2021 73,216 16,275 915,041 1.004,532

Company
Share Capital
capital reserves Retained

(note 12) (note 13) earnings Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balances at September 30, 2020 73,216 6,543    861,679    941,438

Profit for the year      -        -     115,916 115,916

Other comprehensive loss for the year      -        -     (       1,379) (       1,379)

73,216 6,543 976,216 1,055,975
Dividend (note 12)      -         -    (   108,039) (   108,039)

Balances at September 30, 2021 73,216 6,543 868,177    947,936

Profit for the year      -        -     175,416 175,416

Other comprehensive loss for the year      -        -     (     15,323) (     15,323)

73,216 6,543 1,028,270 1,108,029
Transactions with owners of the company:
Dividend (note 12)      -         -    (   114,272) (   114,272)

Surplus on closure of subsidiaries      -        -        53,491      53,491

Total transactions with owners of the company      -        -     (   60,781) (    60,781)
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position
September 30, 2022  
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group   Company  
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 4 112,054 121,670 108,223 117,839
Intangible asset 5 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300
Investment in subsidiary companies 6(a)        -             -      881  103,976

 Investments 7 82,804 98,128 82,804 98,128
Deferred tax asset 8      17,576      16,081      17,576      15,843

     213,734    237,179    210,784    337,086

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9 166,876 116,448 166,876 104,552
Investments 7 242,585 158,801 242,585 158,801
Trade and other receivables, net 10 254,740 227,488 254,585 132,077
Due from subsidiary 6(b)        -             -             -           9,904
Inventories, net 11    475,021    528,867    475,021    522,891

  1,139,222 1,031,604 1,139,067    928,225

TOTAL ASSETS   1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 12 73,216 73,216 73,216 73,216
Capital reserves 13 16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543
Retained earnings    960,862   915,041    967,489    868,177

  1,050,353 1,004,532 1,047,248    947,936
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 272,043 246,806 272,043 230,806
Due to subsidiary 6(c)       -             -             -      74,925
Taxation payable        30,560      17,445      30,560      11,644

       302,603    264,251    302,603    317,375

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
   AND LIABILITIES  1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

The financial statements on pages 9 to 47 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on December
16, 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

__________________________ Chairman __________________________ Director 
Patrick Williams Kathryn Lewis-Green
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Group Company
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the year 175,416 156,826 175,416 115,916
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 4 26,030 23,928 26,030 20,848
Tax expense 18(a) 55,295 40,169 55,295 26,149
Foreign exchange gains  (    4,200) (  10,152) (   4,200) (    9,930)
Interest income 17 (    3,781) (    5,556) (    3,781) (    5,548)
Dividend income       -      (       700)       -      (       700)
Gains on disposal of property, plant

and equipment       -      (       140)       -     (       140)

248,760 204,375 248,760 146,595
Changes in:

Inventories, net 53,846 (127,683) 47,870 (128,137)
Trade and other receivables (  25,461) (  80,978) (120,717) (  48,461)
Trade and other payables    25,237   98,549 41,238 93,648
Due (to)/from subsidiary       -             -       38,074   63,282

Cash guaranteed from operations 302,382 94,263 255,225 126,927

Taxation paid or deducted at source (  43,675) (  27,425) (  38,112) (  13,566)

Net cash provided by operating activities 258,707   66,838 217,113 113,361

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 1,990 5,556 1,990 5,548
Dividend received       -      700       -      700
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (  16,414) (  19,818) (  16,414) (  19,818)

       Net assets transferred from subsidiaries 6(d)      -            -      53,491       -      
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 

equipment       -      140      -          140
Acquisition of investments (  83,783) (    1,759) (  83,784) (    1,759)

Net cash used in investing activities (  98,207) (  15,181) (  44,717) (  15,189)

Dividends paid, being net cash used in financing 
activities 12 (114,272) (108,039) (114,272) (108,039)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 46,228 (  56,382) 58,124 (    9,867)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 116,448 170,859 104,552 112,448
Effect of movement in exchange rates on cash held     4,200     1,971      4,200     1,971

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 166,876 116,448 166,876 104,552

The statement of cash flows includes non-cash transaction of $53,491,000, as set out in note 6(d), which 
has been adjusted.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position
September 30, 2022  
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group   Company  
Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment 4 112,054 121,670 108,223 117,839
Intangible asset 5 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300
Investment in subsidiary companies 6(a)        -             -      881  103,976

 Investments 7 82,804 98,128 82,804 98,128
Deferred tax asset 8      17,576      16,081      17,576      15,843

     213,734    237,179    210,784    337,086

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9 166,876 116,448 166,876 104,552
Investments 7 242,585 158,801 242,585 158,801
Trade and other receivables, net 10 254,740 227,488 254,585 132,077
Due from subsidiary 6(b)        -             -             -           9,904
Inventories, net 11    475,021    528,867    475,021    522,891

  1,139,222 1,031,604 1,139,067    928,225

TOTAL ASSETS   1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 12 73,216 73,216 73,216 73,216
Capital reserves 13 16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543
Retained earnings    960,862   915,041    967,489    868,177

  1,050,353 1,004,532 1,047,248    947,936
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 272,043 246,806 272,043 230,806
Due to subsidiary 6(c)       -             -             -      74,925
Taxation payable        30,560      17,445      30,560      11,644

       302,603    264,251    302,603    317,375

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
   AND LIABILITIES  1,352,956 1,268,783 1,349,851 1,265,311

The financial statements on pages 9 to 47 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on December
16, 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

__________________________ Chairman __________________________ Director 
Patrick Williams Kathryn Lewis-Green
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1. Reporting entity

Salada Foods Jamaica Limited (“the company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.  Its 
principal activity is the manufacture and sale of instant coffee and roasted and ground coffee beans
and other consumer products. The company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “the 
group” [see note 2(c)]. The company’s registered office is located at 20 Bell Road, Kingston 11, 
Jamaica West Indies. Effective October 1, 2021, the company closed the operations of its 
subsidiary Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited that was the distribution arm of the group and 
reverted this function solely to the parent company. The operations of the other subsidiaries were 
discontinued in previous years [see also note 2(c)(i)].

The company is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

Resource in Motion, incorporated in St. Lucia, controls 65% of the voting rights in the company.

2. Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance:

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act.

Amended standards that came into effect during the current financial year

Certain amended standards came into effect during the current financial year. The adoption 
of the amended standards did not result in any changes to amounts recognized or disclosed 
in the financial statements.

Amended standards that are not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new and amended standards 
have been issued which were not effective for the current year and which the group has not 
early-adopted. The group has assessed them with respect to its operations and has determined 
that the following may be relevant to the group:

• Amendments to IAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets is 
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 and clarifies 
those costs that comprise the costs of fulfilling the contract. 

The amendments clarify that the ‘costs of fulfilling a contract comprise both the 
incremental costs – e.g. direct labour and materials; and an allocation of other direct costs 
– e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and 
equipment used in fulfilling the contract. This clarification will require entities that apply 
the ‘incremental cost’ approach to recognise bigger and potentially more provisions. At 
the date of initial application, the cumulative effect of applying the amendments is 
recognised as an opening balance adjustment to retained earnings or other component of 
equity, as appropriate. The comparatives are not restated.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued):

Amended standards that are not yet effective (continued):

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, will apply retrospectively , will apply retrospectively 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. The amendments 2023. The amendments 
promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on determining if a promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on determining if a 
liability is current or non-current. 

Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current when they 
do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the end of the reporting period. As part of its amendments, the requirement 
for a right to be unconditional has been removed and instead, now requires that a right to 
defer settlement must have substance and exist at the end of the reporting period. A 
company classifies a liability as non-current if it has a right to defer settlement for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. It has now been clarified that a right to defer 
exists only if the company complies with conditions specified in the loan agreement at 
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later 
date.

With the amendments, convertible instruments may become current. In light of this, the 
amendments clarify how a company classifies a liability that includes a counterparty 
conversion option, which could be recognised as either equity or a liability separately 
from the liability component under IAS 32. Generally, if a liability has any conversion 
options that involve a transfer of the company’s own equity instruments, these would 
affect its classification as current or non-current. It has now been clarified that a company 
can ignore only those conversion options that are recognised as equity when classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and may be applied earlier. The 
amendments help companies provide useful accounting policy disclosures.

The key amendments to IAS 1 include:

o requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their 
significant accounting policies;

o clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events 
or conditions are themselves immaterial and as such need not be disclosed; and

o clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other 
events or conditions are themselves material to a company’s financial statements.

The amendments are consistent with the refined definition of material:

“Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued):

Amended standards that are not yet effective (continued):

• Amendments to IAS 8 AccountingAccounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with early adoption are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with early adoption 
permitted. permitted. The amendments introduce a new definition for accounting estimates: 
clarifying that they are monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to 
measurement uncertainty.

The amendments also clarify the relationship between accounting policies and accounting 
estimates by specifying that a company develops an accounting estimate to achieve the 
objective set out by an accounting policy.

Developing an accounting estimate includes both:

o selecting a measurement technique (estimation or valuation technique) – e.g. an 
estimation technique used to measure a loss allowance for expected credit losses 
when applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

o choosing the inputs to be used when applying the chosen measurement technique –
e.g. the expected cash outflows for determining a provision for warranty obligations 
when applying IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

The effects of changes in such inputs or measurement techniques are changes in 
accounting estimates.

The group does not expect the amendments to have a significant impact on its financial 
statements when they become effective.

(b) Basis of measurement and function currency:

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis and are presented in Jamaica 
dollars ($), which is the functional currency of the company.  All financial information 
presented in Jamaica dollars have been rounded to the nearest thousand, except when 
otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation:

(i) A “subsidiary” is an entity controlled by the company.  The company controls an entity 
when it is exposed, or has rights, to the variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company 
and its subsidiaries:

Territory of 
Entity Holding Main activity incorporation

Coffee Company of 
Jamaica Limited 100% Dormant entity Jamaica

Shirriff’s (Jamaica)
   Limited 100% Dormant entity Jamaica

Mountain Peak Food 
   Processors Limited 100% Dormant entity  Dormant entity  Dormant entity Jamaica

Pimora Company
   Limited 100% Dormant entity Jamaica

(ii) Loss of control:

On the loss of control, the group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to 
the subsidiary. Any gain or loss arising on the loss of control is recognized in profit or 
loss. If the group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is 
measured at fair value at the date that control is lost.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Balances and transactions between companies within the group, and any unrealised 
gains arising from those transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.  Unrealised gains arising from transactions within the group are 
eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the subsidiary.  Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred.
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(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements to conform with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date, and the income and expenses 
for the year then ended.  Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised and future 
years, if the revision affects both current and future years.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effects on 
the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the 
next financial year are discussed below:

(i) Judgements:

For the purpose of these financial statements, judgement refers to the informed 
identification and analysis of reasonable alternatives, considering all relevant facts and 
circumstances, and the well-reasoned, objective and unbiased choice of the alternative 
that is most consistent with the agreed principles set out in IFRS.  The key relevant 
judgements are as follows:

Classification of financial assets:

The assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and assessment 
of whether the contractual cash flows from a financial asset are solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount requires management to make 
certain judgements on its business operations. 

Impairment of financial assets:

Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for 
incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of expected credit loss 
(ECL) and selection and approval of models used to measure ECL requires significant 
judgement.

(ii) Key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty:

Allowance for impairment losses on financial assets:

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured 
at amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and 
significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. 
the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses).
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2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued):

(ii) Key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued):

Allowance for impairment losses on financial assets (continued):

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (continued)

Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring 
ECL is further detailed in note 3(t), which also sets out key sensitivities of the ECL to 
changes in these elements.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting 
requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

• Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for 

each type of product/market and the associated ECL; and
• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

(iii) Inventories:

(a) Net realisable value:

Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available 
at the time the estimates are made, of the amount the inventories are expected to 
realise. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost directly 
relating to events occurring after the end of the period to the extent that such events 
confirm conditions existing at the end of the period.

Estimates of net realisable value also take into consideration the purpose for which 
the inventory is held.

(b) Costing

Inventory includes finished goods and work-in-progress, which consist of raw and 
packaging materials, direct labour, other direct costs and a proportion of related 
production overheads.  The determination of other direct costs and proportion of 
related production overheads allocated to finished goods and work-in-progress 
requires significant judgements.

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Investment in subsidiary companies:

Investments in subsidiary companies are measured at cost less impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Employee benefits:

Employee entitlements to leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for vacation leave, as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the reporting date

(c) Inventories:

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined on 
the weighted average cost basis. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress comprises 
raw and packaging materials, direct labour, other direct costs and a proportion of related 
production overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

The cost of other inventories comprising raw and packaging materials and goods in transit is 
based on their cost and expenses incurred in acquiring and bringing them to their existing 
location and condition.

Fuel, spares and consumables comprise items used in the regular maintenance and servicing 
of plant and machinery, and normally consumed in less than one period.

(d) Accounts receivable:

Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, less impairment losses.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances, other short-term investments 
and other monetary instruments with maturities ranging between one and three months from 
the reporting date. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

(f) Investments:

Investments are classified as amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income. Amortised cost are those that have a fixed or determinable payment and which are 
not quoted in an active market.  Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate 
method, less impairment losses.  

Items classified at fair value other comprehensive income are initially recognised at cost and 
subsequently at fair value. Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market price is 
available in an active market.  Any resultant gain or loss is recognised in investment 
revaluation reserve through other comprehensive income. Fair value gains recognised in 
other comprehensive income cannot be recycled through the profit or loss account.

(g) Accounts payable:

Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost.
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(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Provisions:

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the obligation.

(i) Property, plant and equipment:

(i) Property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost or deemed cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditures 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of replacing part 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day 
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Depreciation:

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to write 
down the property, plant and equipment to their estimated residual values at the end of 
their expected useful lives. No depreciation is charged on the freehold land and capital 
work-in-program. Annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Buildings 2.5 - 10%
Infrastructure 2.5 - 10%
Machinery and equipment 2.5 - 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the 
reporting date.

(j) Revenue:

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies:

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer.  The 
group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer and 
the customer has accepted the good or services.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j) Revenue (continued):

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies (continued):

The nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with 
customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies 
are as follows:

Type of product Its principal activity is the manufacture and 
sale of instant coffee and roasted and ground 
coffee beans and other consumer products.

Nature and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations, including 
significant payment terms.

Customers obtain control of goods when the 
goods are delivered to and accepted by them.  
Invoices are generated and the revenue is 
recognised at that point in time. 

Invoices are usually payable within 45 days.

Revenue recognition under IFRS 15 Revenue is recognised at a point in time when 
the goods are delivered and have been 
accepted by the customers.

(k) Net finance income:

Net finance income, calculated using the effective interest rate method, comprises interest 
income on funds invested, material bank charges and foreign exchange gains and losses 
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the yield on 
the asset.

(l) Income tax:

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 
is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly 
to equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the 
reporting date.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(p) Segment reporting (continued):

Based on the information presented to and reviewed by the CODM, management has 
determined that there two geographical segments.

(q) Related parties:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”).

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that 
person:

(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a 
parent of the reporting entity.

(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 
of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 
either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  

(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the 
reporting entity.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related 
parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Financial instruments:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.  In these financial statements, 
financial assets comprise investments, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and 
due from subsidiary.  Financial liabilities comprise accounts payable and due to subsidiary.

(i) Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial 
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing 
component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not 
at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A 
trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the 
transaction price.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement Classification and subsequent measurement Classif

Financial assets 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI –
equity investment; or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the 
group changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all 
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period 
following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 
contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI).

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest, the group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes 
assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the 
timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Financial instruments (continued):

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets 

In making this assessment, the group considers: 

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
- prepayment and extension features; and
- terms that limit the group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-

recourse features).

Amortised cost represents the net present value (“NPV”) of the consideration 
receivable or payable as of the transaction date. This classification of financial assets 
comprises the following captions:

 Short-term investments
 Cash and cash equivalents
 Accounts receivable

Due to their short-term nature, the group initially recognises these assets at the original 
invoiced or transaction amount less expected credit losses.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described 
above are measured at FVTPL.  On initial recognition, the group may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces 
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial liabilities 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of 
borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.  The group’s financial 
liabilities, which includes accounts payable are recognised initially at fair value.

Financial assets and liabilities – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses: 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses if 
any. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit 
or loss.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as 
described in the particular recognition methods disclosed in the individual policy 
statements associated with each item.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Financial instruments (continued):

(iii) Derecognition  

Financial assets

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash 
flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial asset are transferred or in which the group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of 
the financial asset. 

The group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its 
statement of financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transf
assets are not derecognised. 

Financial liabilities

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, with the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled, or expired. 

(iv) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the group currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net 
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

(s) Impairment:

Financial assets 

Measurement of ECLs

The group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost and at fair value through OCI.

The group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(s) Impairment (continued):

Financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the group considers reasonable and 
supportable information relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the group’s historical 
experience and informed credit assessment and including forward looking information.

The group assumes that the credit risk on financial assets has increased significantly if it is 
more than 180 days past due. 

The group recognises loss allowances for ECLs and considers a financial asset to be in default 
when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the group in full, without recourse 
by the group to action such as realising security if any is held; or

- the financial asset is more than 180 days past due.

Life-time ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the financial instrument.  

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period 
over which the group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the group 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the group expects to receive).   

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised costs 
are credit-impaired.  A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have 
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 
- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; or 
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(s) Impairment (continued):

Financial assets (continued)

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) when 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion 
thereof. This is the case when the group determines that the debtor does not have assets or 
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to 
the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level. 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial 
instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to 
comply with the group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

Non- financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets (other than inventories) are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment 
loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, if 
no impairment loss had been recognised.
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4. Property, plant and equipment
Group:

Freehold Machinery
Freehold buildings and equipment & Work-in-

land infrastructure vehicles progress Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At cost or deemed cost:
September 30, 2020     9,975 88,111 393,712 15,153 506,951
Additions     -      2,872 16,946     -     19,818
Transfers       -        -         8,248 (  8,248)        -     

September 30, 2021   9,975 90,983 418,906   6,905 526,769
Additions     -          -     9,854 6,560 16,414
Transfers      -        -         7,180 (  7,180)        -     

September 30, 2022   9,975 90,983 435,940   6,285 543,183

Depreciation:
September 30, 2020      -     47,681 333,490      -     381,171
Charge for the year      -       1,971   21,957      -       23,928

September 30, 2021      -     49,652 355,447      -     405,099
Charge for the year      -       1,833   24,197      -       26,030

September 30, 2022      -     51,485 379,644      -     431,129
Net book values:

September 30, 2022   9,975 39,498   56,296   6,285 112,054

September 30, 2021   9,975 41,331   63,459   6,905 121,670

Company:
Freehold Machinery

Freehold buildings and equipment & Work-in-
land infrastructure vehicles progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At cost or deemed cost:
September 30, 2020 6,144 70,546 339,135   15,153 430,978
Additions     -    2,872 16,946      -     19,818
Transfers     -         -      8,248 (  8,248)     -      

September 30, 2021 6,144 73,418 364,329   6,905 450,796
Additions     -    -    9,854 6,560 16,414
Transfers     -         -        7,180 (  7,180)     -      

September 30, 2022 6,144 73,418 381,363   6,285 467,210

Depreciation:
September 30, 2020     -    31,202 280,907      -     312,109
Charge for the year     -      1,971   18,877      -       20,848
Disposals     -         -          -          -         -      

September 30, 2021     -    33,173 299,784      -     332,957
Charge for the year     -      1,833   24,197      -       26,030

September 30, 2022     -    35,006 323,981      -     358,987

Net book values:

September 30, 2022 6,144 38,412   57,382   6,285 108,223

September 30, 2021 6,144 40,245   64,545   6,905 117,839
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4. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Work-In-Progress includes a fire alarm system, spray dryer and image printer which will be fully 
commissioned within the next financial year. 

5. Intangible asset

This represents costs of the Mountain Bliss Brand for group and company. 

6. Investment in subsidiary companies and due from/to subsidiary companies

(a) Investment in subsidiary companies comprises:

Company
2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Shares at cost:
Coffee Company of Jamaica Limited 790 790
Shirriff’s (Jamaica) Limited 91 91
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited    -    102,595
Pimora Company Limited    -           500

  881 103,976

The investment in subsidiary accounts for Mountain Peak Foods Processors Limited and 
Pimora company Limited are nil for 2022 as these subsidiaries are not operational effective 
October 1, 2021.

(b) Due from subsidiary (due within twelve months):
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited - trading    -        9,904

(c) Due to subsidiary (due within twelve months):
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited – other    -      74,925

Balances with subsidiary are unsecured and interest free.

(d) During the year, as part of its organization of its operations, the company took over the assets 
and liabilities of Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited and Pimora Company Limited
effective October 1, 2021. The carrying amounts were as follows:

2022
$’000

Assets:
Cash and bank balances 11,896
Accounts receivables 95,411
Inventories 5,975
Due from parent 65,019
Taxation recoverable           6
Deferred tax asset             238

Liabilities:
Accounts payable (  15,817)
Taxation Payable (   6,111)

Total net assets  156,617

Less investment in subsidiaries (103,126)

Net gains recognized in equity   53,491
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7. Investments

2022
Group and Company

(Non-Current)
Fair value (Current)

through other Amortised
comprehensive income cost Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Resale agreements      -        175,426 175,426
Deposits      -     68,404 68,404
Quoted Jamaican equities 82,804       -        82,804

82,804 243,830 326,634
Less: impairment loss     -     (    1,245) (    1,245)

82,804 242,585 325,389

2021
Group and Company

(Non-Current)
Fair value (Current)

through other Amortised
comprehensive income cost Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Resale agreements       -         108,440 108,440
Deposits       -      52,146 52,146
Quoted Jamaican equities 98,128      -        98,128

98,128 160,586 258,714
Less: impairment loss     -      (    1,785) (    1,785)

98,128 158,801 256,929

The fair value of the securities under resale agreements approximates the carrying value of the 
agreements. The resale agreements include US$961,691* (2021: US$745,557*) which earns 
interest at a rate 2.70% to 4.2% (2021: 2.6% to 3.0%) per annum.  Deposits include $Nil (2021: 
US$306,138*) and earns interest at Nil (2021: 3%) per annum.

*These amounts are represented in absolute numbers.

Movement in impairment losses for investments is as follows:
Group and Company

2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 1,785 485
Impairment (recovered)/loss recognised (    540) 1,300

Balance at end of year 1,245 1,785

At the reporting date, the group and the company had investments of $107,568,055 (2021: 
$121,472,799) with companies owned by a Director.
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8. Deferred taxation

Deferred income tax is calculated on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amount used for taxation purposes, using an 
effective tax rate of 25%.

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:

2022
Group

Recognised Recognised September
October 1, in in 30,

2021 income equity 2022
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(note 18) [note 6(d)]

Vacation pay accrual 1,994 (   586) (     134)    1,274
Property, plant and equipment 14,446 126      -     14,572
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange (     728) 242 (       57) (     543)
Accrued interest receivable (  1,252) 804      -     (     448)
Impairment losses on inventory      -     300      -     300
Impairment losses on investments 447 (   135)      -     312
Impairment losses on trade receivables   1,174    982 (      47)   2,109

16,081 1,733 (     238) 17,576

2021
Group

Recognised September
October 1, in 30,

2020 income 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000

(note 18)

Vacation pay accrual 1,747 247 1,994
Property, plant and equipment 16,570 (2,124) 14,446
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange 177 (   905) (     728)
Accrued interest receivable (  1,076) (   176) (  1,252)
Impairment losses on investments (       88) 535 447
Impairment losses on trade receivables      191    983   1,174

17,521 (1,440) 16,081
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8. Deferred taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following (continued):

2022
Company

Recognised September
October 1, in 30,

2021 income 2022
$’000 $’000 $’000

(note 18)

Vacation pay accrual 1,594 (   586) 1,008
Property, plant and equipment 14,207 126 14,333
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange (     278) 242 (       36)
Accrued interest receivable (  1,252) 804 (     448)
Impairment losses on inventory - 300 300
Impairment losses on investments 447 (   135) 312
Impairment losses on trade receivables   1,125    982   2,107

15,843 1,733 17,576

2021
The Company

Recognised September
October 1, in 30,

2020 income 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000

(note 18)

Vacation pay accrual 1,347 247 1,594
Property, plant and equipment 16,331 (2,124) 14,207
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange 627 (   905) (     278)
Accrued interest receivable (  1,076) (   176) (  1,252)
Impairment losses on investments (       88) 535 447
Impairment losses on trade receivables      142    983   1,125

17,283 (1,440) 15,843

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash in hand and bank 164,165 113,771 164,165 101,875
Short-term deposits     2,711     2,677     2,711     2,677

166,876 116,448 166,876 104,552

At the reporting date, cash in hand and bank include US$466,037 (2021: US$66,030).
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10. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 200,533 175,218 200,533 87,933
Prepayments 23,765 41,727 23,765 41,218
Other receivables   38,868   15,374   38,713   7,431

263,166 232,319 263,011 136,582
Less: impairment losses (  8,426) (    4,831) (  8,426) (  4,505)

254,740 227,488 254,585 132,077

(i) Impairment 

Allowances were established based on incurred loss analyses over delinquent accounts 
considering aging of balances, the credit history and risk profile of each customer and legal 
processes to recover accounts receivable. Allowances are determined upon origination of the 
trade accounts receivable based on a model that calculates the expected credit loss (“ECL”) 
of the trade accounts receivable and are recognised over their term. 

Information on impairment losses for trade receivables is included in note 21(a)(i).

Movement in impairment losses for trade receivables is as follows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 4,831 4,018 4,505 3,293
Movement on transfer of subsidiary             (   326)                   -                        -                         -
Impairment loss recognised
  net of recoveries 3,921    813 3,921 1,212

Balance at end of year 8,426 4,831 8,426 4,505

11. Inventories
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Raw and packaging materials 243,559 283,120 243,559 281,709
Finished goods held for sale 62,132 67,953 62,132 62,116
Work-in-progress 95,406 135,292 95,406 135,292
Fuel, spares and consumables   81,752   48,744   81,752   48,744

482,849 535,109 482,849 527,861
Provision for obsolescence (    7,828) (    6,242) (    7,828) (    4,970)

475,021 528,867 475,021 522,891

During the year, inventory write-offs aggregating $4,704,047 (2021: $611,632) for the group and 
company were recognised in profit or loss.
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12. Share capital
Group and Company

2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Authorised:
500,000,000 ordinary units of no par value

Stated:
Issued and fully paid:

1,038,832,900 (2021: 1,038,832,900)
ordinary stock units of no par value 73,216 73,216

In a meeting of the Board of Directors held on November 18, 2021 and May 19, 2022 a dividend 
of $0.055c/share and $0.055c/share respectively per stock unit was declared (on November 19, 
2020 and May 20, 2021: a dividend of $0.50 and $0.054 respectively per stock unit was declared).

Holders of the ordinary stock units are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote but upon a poll being taken at general meetings of the company, have one vote 
for every stock unit held.

13. Capital reserves

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revaluation surplus on assets carried
   at deemed cost 14,528 14,528 4,838 4,838
Realised gains   1,747   1,747 1,705 1,705

16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543

14. Trade and other payables
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 100,861 92,772 100,861 92,568
Accrued charges 123,647 121,015 123,647 105,219
Dividends payable 33,283 32,536 33,283 32,536
Other payables   14,252        483   14,252        483

272,043 246,806 272,043 230,806
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15. Revenue

Revenue comprise the invoiced value of goods sold, net of general consumption tax, rebates and 
discounts.

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Local sales 1,053,393 925,051 1,053,393 803,657
Export sales    283,045    264,689    283,045    264,689

1,336,438 1,189,740 1,336,438 1,068,346

16. Nature of expenses

(a) Cost of goods sold:
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gas and fuel 35,273 31,194 35,273 31,194
Depreciation 18,773 20,904 18,773 17,824
Insurance 9,569 8,977 9,569 8,977
Outsourcing 77,980 80,980 77,980 80,980
Coffee cess 501 7,425 501 7,425
Travel and subsistence 7,897 7,108 7,897 7,108
Plant management 
   technical services 13,028 18,092 13,028 18,092
Other 8,744 8,057 8,744 8,057
Repairs and maintenance 24,202 20,913 24,202 20,913
Security 8,238 8,129 8,238 8,129
Utilities 64,581 56,759 64,581 56,759
Salaries and other related costs 42,506 32,131 42,506 32,131
Raw material and consumables 613,143 527,865 613,143 518,332

924,435 828,534 924,435 815,921

(b) Selling and promotion expenses:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Advertising and promotions 31,004 30,153 31,004 40
Other 4,623 6,141 4,623   -  
Delivery and handling charges 1,949 3,813 1,949   -  
Salaries and other related costs 14,288 12,327 14,288   -  

51,864 52,434 51,864 40
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16. Nature of expenses (continued)

(c) Administrative expenses:
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Audit fees 9,643 4,517 9,643 2,590
Computer expenses 3,017 2,502 3,017 2,490
Depreciation 7,257 7,098 7,257 7,098
Director fees 11,680 11,763 11,680 11,763
Outsourcing 18,160 17,617 18,160 17,617
Other * 25,703 27,687 25,703 26,888
Legal and professional fees 6,094 11,356 6,094 8,797
Registrar and AGM expenses 3,151 3,458 3,151 3,458
Salaries and other related costs 46,956 38,376 46,956 38,376
Utilities     1,344     1,344     1,344     1,344

133,005 125,718 133,005 120,421

* Other administrative expenses represent amounts for office supplies, consultancy services, 
telephone and internet.

(d) Salaries and other related costs:
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Salaries and wages 84,942 72,515 84,942 60,188
Statutory deductions 8,086 3,039 8,086 3,039
Staff welfare 5,842 4,905 5,842 4,905
Pension contributions     3,710   2,375     3,710   2,375

102,580 82,834 102,580 70,507

17. Net finance income
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Finance income:
Interest income 3,781 5,556 3,781 5,548
Foreign exchange gain 4,200 10,152 4,200   9,930

7,981 15,708 7,981 15,478
Finance costs:

Bank charges (1,229) (     842) (1,229) (     808)

6,752 14,866 6,752 14,670
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18. Taxation

(a) Taxation is based on net profit for the year adjusted for taxation purposes and represents 
income tax charged at 25%.

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current tax expense:
Income tax 59,942 48,709 59,942 34,689

                       Prior year under provision 751 -     751 -    
Employment tax credit (  7,131) (  9,980) (  7,131) (  9,980)

53,562 38,729 53,562 24,709
Deferred taxation:

Originating and reversal of other
   timing differences, net 1,733   1,440   1,733   1,440

55,295 40,169 55,295 26,149

(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit before tax 230,712 196,995 230,712 142,065
Computed “expected” 
   tax expense @ 25% 57,678 49,249 57,678 35,516
Difference between profits for 

financial statements and tax 
   reporting purposes on:

Employment tax credit (    7,131) (    9,980) (    7,131) (  9,980)
                              Prior year under provision 751 - 751 -

Disallowed expenses, impairment
  and capital items 3,760 1,923 3,760 2,499
Foreign exchange differences and
  other capital items        237 (    1,023)      237 (  1,886)

Actual expense   55,295   40,169   55,295 26,149

19. Transactions with related parties

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(i) Directors emoluments:
Fees 11,680 11,763 11,680 11,763
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19. Transactions with related parties (continued)

(i) Directors emoluments (continued):

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

Group and Company
2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Salaries and wages 24,645 22,517
Staff welfare Staff welfare Staff welfa 1,170 955
Pension contributions   1,105   1,126

26,920 24,598

(ii) Key management personnel transactions:
During the year a Director and relatives purchased shares totalling 170,000 units (2021: 
82,758 units).

(iii) Other related party transactions:
Sales to Mountain Peak Food Processor Limited amounted to Nil (2021: $635,769,210).

See note 7 for investments held with related parties.

20. Earnings per ordinary stock unit

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to members by the 
number of stock units in issue during the year.

2022 2021

Net profit attributable to shareholders ($’000)           175,416           156,826

Number of stock units in issue (see note 12) 1,038,832,900 1,038,832,900

Basic earnings per stock unit ($)                 0.17                 0.15

(a) Financial risk management:

The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
• Operational risk

The Board of Directors, together with senior management has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the group’s risk management framework.  

The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the group to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence 
to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions and group’s activities. 
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21. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management:

(i) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit risk arises 
principally from receivables arising from credit given to customers and deposits and 
investments with financial institutions.  The maximum credit exposure is represented 
by the carrying amount of the financial assets in the statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with substantial counter-parties deemed to 
have low risk of default.  The ECL on cash and cash equivalents was assessed to be 
insignificant.

Accounts receivable 

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics 
of each customer.  The demographics of the customer base, including the default risk of 
the industry in which customers operate, has less of an influence on credit risk.  The 
group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. 

Trade receivables mainly consist of balances due from retail and hospitality customers 
across Jamaica. The company has concentration of credit risk, with four (4) of its 
customers, accounting for 91% (2021:55%) of trade receivables.

Expected credit loss assessment 

The group uses a provision matrix to measure ECLs on trade receivables.  The provision 
matrix is based on its historical observed default rates over the expected life of the trade 
receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates.

Loss rates are calculated based on the probability of a receivable progressing through 
successive stages of delinquency to write-off, current conditions and the economic 
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The following tables provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for 
trade receivables as at September 30, 2022 (see also note 10).

Group
2022

Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss Credit 
loss rate amount allowance impaired

$’000 $’000
Current (not past due) 2.51% 145,041 4,152 No
31-60 days past due 3.77% 40,054 1,720 No
61-90 days past due 13.21% 15,438 2,554 No
91-180 days past due 100%    -       -     yes

200,533 8,426
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(i) Credit risk (continued):

Expected credit loss assessment (continued)

Group
2021

Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss Credit 
loss rate amount allowance impaired

$’000 $’000

Current (not past due) 1.8% 148,859 2,635 No
31-60 days past due 6.5% 23,648 1,536 No 
61-90 days past due 2.2%     2,613 562 No
91-180 days past due 100%         98      98 No

175,218 4,831

Company
2022

Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss Credit 
loss rate amount allowance impaired

$’000 $’000

Current (not past due) 2.51% 145,041 4,152 No
31-60 days past due 3.77% 40,054 1,720 No
61-90 days past due 13.21% 15,438 2,554 No
91-180 days past due 100%      -        -     yes

200,533 8,426

Company
2021

Weighted Gross
average carrying Loss Credit 
loss rate amount allowance impaired

$’000 $’000

Current (not past due) 3.3% 62,499 2,548 No
31-60 days past due 5.0% 22,824 1,397 No 
61-90 days past due 17.6% 2,610 560 No
91-180 days past due 100%    -        -    yes

87,933 4,505
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(i) Credit risk (continued):

Investments

The group limits its exposure to credit risk associated with investment securities by 
investing mainly in liquid securities with counterparties that have high credit quality. 

Credit quality

The group identifies changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit ratings. 
To determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk at the reporting date that has not been 
reflected in published ratings, the reflected in published ratings, the ref group supplements this by reviewing changes in bond 
yields together with available press and regulatory information on issuers.

Twelve (12)-month and lifetime probabilities of default are based on historical data 
supplied by each credit rating and are recalibrated based on current bond yields.  Loss 
given default (LGD) parameters generally reflect an assumed recovery rate of percent 
except when the security is credit-impaired, in which case the estimate of loss based on 
the instrument’s current market price and original effective interest rate.

The following table sets out the credit quality of debt investment securities based on 
Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s ratings as follows:

Group and Company
2022 2021

Stage 1 Stage 1
12-month ECL 12-month ECL

$’000 $’000
Debt investment securities at amortised cost, 
     being total gross carrying amount 243,830 160,586
Loss allowance (    1,245) (    1,785)

242,585 158,801

(ii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due.  The group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it 
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liability when due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
group reputation. 
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued):

Management aims at maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities. The 
management of the group maintains an adequate amount of its financial assets in liquid 
form to meet contractual obligations and other recurring payments. 

The contractual outflows as at September 2022 and 2021 for trade and other payables 
and due to subsidiary are represented by their carrying amounts in the statement of 
financial position, and require settlements within 12 months of the reporting date. Based 
on the liquid assets held and the positive operating cashflows, the group’s has adequate 
available funding to settle these commitments when due.

There is no change from the prior year in the nature of the group’s exposure to liquidity 
risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(iii) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, and 
interest rates will affect the group’s income or the value of its holding of financial 
instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

• Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates.

The group materially contracts financial liabilities at fixed interest rates for the 
duration of the term. At September 30, 2022 and 2021, there were no financial 
liabilities subject to variable interest rate risk.

Interest-bearing financial assets mainly comprise monetary instruments, bank 
deposits and short-term investments, which have been contracted at fixed interest 
rates for the duration of their terms.

At the reporting date the interest profile of the group’s interest-bearing financial 
instruments was:

Group and Company
Carrying amount

2022 2021
$’000 $’000

Variable rate:
Financial assets 246,541 152,958

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The group does not hold any fixed rate financial assets that are subject to material 
changes in fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates 
at the reporting date would not affect profit or equity. 



106

SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2022
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(iii) Market risk (continued):

• Interest rate risk (continued):

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

An increase in interest rate of 2% (2021: 3%) at the reporting date would have 
increased profit or loss by $4,903,800 (2021: $4,588,762), while a 0.50% (2021: 
0.50%) decline in interest rate at reporting date would have decreased profit by 
$1,232,700 (2021: $764,794).

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency 
rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.

• Foreign currency risk:

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The group is exposed to foreign currency risk, primarily on purchases that are 
denominated in a currency other than the Jamaica dollar.  The main foreign 
currency risks of the group are denominated in United States dollars (US$), 
which is the principal intervening currency for the group.

The group jointly manages foreign exchange exposure by maintaining adequate 
liquid resources in appropriate currencies and by managing the timing of 
payments on foreign currency liabilities.

The table below shows the group’s main foreign currency exposure at the 
reporting date.

Group and Company
2022 2021

US$ J$ US$ J$

Cash and cash 
   equivalents 466,037 71,122,373 66,003 9,599,476
Investments   961,690 146,764,442 1,051,696 152,958,722
Trade and other
   receivables 848,515 129,492,787 774,265 112,609,131
Trade and other
   payables (   499,688) (  76,257,885) (   492,041) (  71,562,395)

Net exposure 1,776,554 271,121,717 1,399,923 203,604,934

Exchange rates for the US dollar, in terms of Jamaica dollars, were as follows:

September 30, 2022 152.611
September 30, 2021 145.44
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(iii) Market risk (continued):

• Foreign currency risk (continued):

Sensitivity analysis

A 1% (2021: 2%) strengthening of the Jamaica dollar against the US$ would 
have decreased profit for the year by $5,242,239 (2021: $4,072,099).

A 4% (2021: 8%) weakening of the Jamaica dollar against the US$ would have 
increased profits for the year by $10,484,478 (2021: $16,288,395 ).

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain 
constant.  This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.

There is no change from the prior year in the nature of the group’s exposure to market 
risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(iv) Operational risk:

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes 
associated with the group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and 
from external factors, other than financial risks, such as those arising from legal and 
regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour.

The group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of 
financial losses and damage to its reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid 
control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to senior management.

(b) Capital management:

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain customer, creditor and 
other stakeholders’ confidence, and to sustain future development of the business. The Board 
monitor’s the return on capital, which is defined as total shareholders’ equity and the level of 
dividends to shareholders.  The group is not subject to any externally imposed capital 
requirements and there was no change in how the group measures and manages capital.

(c) Fair value disclosure:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between markets participants at the measurement date. Market price is 
used to determine fair value where an active market exists, as it is the best evidence of the 
fair value of a financial instrument. The group’s equities are the only financial instrument 
that is carried at fair value. Where fair value of financial instruments approximates carrying 
value, no fair value computation is done and disclosed. The fair value of cash and cash 
equivalents, investments, accounts receivable, due to subsidiary/due from subsidiary and 
accounts payable approximates their carrying value due to their short-term nature.  
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21. Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Fair value disclosure (continued):

The group had no other financial instruments which were carried at fair value.

The fair values quoted equities is based on the mid and closing prices published by the 
Jamaican Stock Exchanges.

Determination of fair value and fair values hierarchy

IFRS 13 seeks to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements and 
related disclosures through a 'fair value hierarchy'. The hierarchy categorises the inputs used 
in valuation techniques into three levels. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to 
(unadjusted) quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs. These types of inputs have created the following fair value 
hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level 
includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  This includes financial assets 
with fair values based on broker quotes.

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt 
instruments with significant unobservable components. This hierarchy requires 
the use of observable market data when available.

The group considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

Equity investments are classified as Level 1. 

22. Segment Reporting

Segment information is presented in respect of the group’s strategic business segments.  The 
identification of business segments is based on the group’s management and internal reporting 
structure.  Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment, as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment information below represents segment revenue based on the market receiving the benefit 
of the products/services.
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22. Segment Reporting (continued)

Geographical information:
2022

Local Export Total

Revenue from external 
customers 1,053,393 283,045 1,336,438

Segment non-current assets 213,734      -      213,734
Segment current assets 1,139,222       -      1,139,222

Segment total assets 1,352,956       -      1,352,956

2021
Local Export Total

Revenue from external 
customers    925,051 264,689 1,189,740

Segment non-current assets 237,179      -       237,179
Segment current assets 1,031,604      -       1,031,604

Segment total assets 1,268,783      -       1,268,783

Management does not assess profits per segment, neither do they allocate for current or non-current 
assets.

23. Ukraine/Russia Conflict

Management continues to monitor the ongoing situation in relation to the Ukraine conflict. Eastern 
Europe is not a key market for the sale of the group’s products or sourcing of raw materials.
Nonetheless, related increases in energy and food prices may negatively impact disposable income.
Whilst there is still uncertainty of the implications of these events and conditions over the global 
economy’s recovery from COVID-19, management believes that the group is in a position to 
withstand such economic shocks.



110





112112


